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CHAPTER 4

SUKAYK AND AL-SUMMAQAH: MAMLUK RURAL
GEOGRAPHY IN THE NORTHERN JAWLAN/GOLAN HEIGHTS
IN LIGHT OF QAYTBAY’S ENDOWMENT DEEDS

Roy Marom

This chapter presents and discusses three unpub-
lished 15th century CE endowment deeds (waqfi-
yat, sing. waqfiyah), by Sultan al-Ashraf Qaytbay (r.
1468—1496 CE) concerning the villages of Sukayk
and al-Summagqah in al-Jawlan (the Golan Heights,

THE DOCUMENTS AND

The latter stages of the Mamluk period witnessed
the encumberment of considerable properties as
religious endowments, called wagf in Arabic;
a phenomenon Bethany Walker termed ‘waqfiza-
tion”.! Wagqfization aimed, in part, to control sources
of revenue in atime of property confiscation and
socio-economic upheavals and political insecu-
rities.? According to Islamic law, only an owner
(mallak) can dedicate properties as wagqf, there-
fore necessitating the production, confirmation
and dissemination of official legal deeds which

henceforth, the Golan). The chapter provides an
annotated and rectified transcription of the waqfi-
yahs, with an English translation followed by
a discussion of their contents.

THEIR SIGNIFICANCE

document the process of purchase and endowment
of properties.’ Because of the permanence and irre-
versibility ascribed to endowments under shari‘ah
law, the Ottoman judiciary collected, copied and
abridged many of these endowments, whose origi-
nal deeds are otherwise lost.*

Few works from the Ayyubid and Mamluk peri-
ods, like Yaqut’s Mu'jam al-Buldan, refer exten-
sively to the settlement geography of the Levant.’
Occasional information is found in genealogical
encyclopedias like al-Qalqashandt’s Sitbh al-A'sha,

1 Walker, B.J. Mobility and Migration in Mamluk Syria: The Dynamism of Villagers ‘on the Move’. Mamluk Studies 7 (Proceed-
ings of the Conference Everything is on the Move: The ‘Mamluk Empire’ as a Node in (Trans-) Regional Networks) (2014),

337.

2 Igarashi, D. Waqf as a Means of Securing Financial Assets: The “Self-Benefiting Waqf™” in Mamluk Egypt and Syria. In
Levanony, A. (ed.) Egypt and Syria under Mamluk Rule (Leiden, 2021), 277-291.

3 Obaidullah, M. A Framework for Analysis of Islamic Endowment (waqf) Laws. Int’l J. Not-for-Profit L. 18 (2016), 54-72.

4 Ipshirlt, M. and al-Tamim1, M. Awgaf wa-'Amlak al-Muslimin fT Filastin fT Alwiyat Ghazza, Nablus, Ajlin, hasab al-Daftar
Raqam 522 min Dafatir al-Tahrir al-Uthmaniyya al-Mudawwana f1 al-QOarn al-Ashir al-Hijr7 (Istanbul, 1982).

5 Yaqut, Shihab al-Din. Mu'’jam al-Buldan: lil-Shaykh al-Imam Shihab al-Din Abt Abdillah Yaqit b. Abdillah al-Hamaw? al-Riami

al-Baghdadr (Beirut, 1977).
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or in biographical dictionaries like al-Sakhawt’s
al-Daw’ al-Lami‘® Besides these broad works,
local chronicles or histories like Ibn ‘Asakir’s
Ta’rikh Dimashg, al-Maqdist’s al-’"Unus al-Jalil and
al-‘Uthmani’s Ta'rikh Safad focus primarily on the
urban elites and rarely shed light on minor rural
settlements in the hinterland.’

Mamluk endowment deeds are among the most
important surviving records of the Mamluk period
in Bilad al-Sham.® Although little used for historical-
geographical research, these documents often
contain the only mention of rural inhabited sites.
The documents provide modern researchers with
an unparalleled window into the historical geogra-
phy, toponymy, demography and economics of urban
and rural fabrics alike.’ In the case of the Golan, the
same is true for the Early Ottoman period. For exam-
ple, vezier Mustafa Lala Pasha’s endowment deed
provides the most detailed account of the rural geog-
raphy of region alongside, and beyond, that offered

by 16th century Ottoman fiscal registers."

Wagfiyahs and other legalo-fiscal documents
follow Late Islamic legal and fiscal-geographical
conventions. Each listing includes the name of the
property, the endowed fraction (in 24—qarats), and
a description of its boundary. Boundary descrip-
tions define the borders using names of neighbour-
ing fiscal units or landscape elements, starting, in
Bilad al-Sham, in the south (giblah, the Islamic
direction of prayer) and progressing counterclock-
wise.!! Words in some endowment deeds, like those
discussed here, are written without marking the
hamzah,*> and diacritical points (fanqif) are also
sometimes dropped.

Wagqfiyahs also follow established Late Islamic
conventions in designating the status of a site. For
example, an inhabited village is designated as
a garyah, while an uninhabited parcel of agricul-
tural land, often associated with a historic site or
ruin, is called a mazra‘ah. Later copies or emenda-
tions of waqfiyahs often mention the status of ruined
(kharab), disused or dysfunctional (‘atil) sites.”” The
distinction between garyah and mazra‘ah lost its

10

11
12

13
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Al-Sakhawi, Shams al-Din. al-Daw’ al-Lami‘ li-Ahl al-Qarn al-Tasi‘ (Beirut, n.d.); Al-Qalqashandi, Ahmad. Kitab Subh
al-A'sha f1 Sina‘at al-Insha (Cairo, 1922).

Ibn ‘Asakir, ‘AlTb. al-Hasan. 7a’rikh Madinat Dimashg wa-Dhikr Fadliha wa-Tasmiyat Man Hulliha min al-Amathil aw Ijtaza
bi-Nawahiha min Waridiha wa-Ahliha (Beirut, 1998); Al-Maqdist, Mujir al-Din. 4/-Unus al-Jalil bi-Ta’rikh al-Quds wal-
Khalil (Amman, n.d.); Al-“Uthmani, Muhammad b. ‘Abd al-Rahman, Ta’rikh Safad ma‘a Malahiq ‘Arabiyya wa-Latiniyya
Mutarjama Tunshar Lil-Marra al-Uld, edited by S. Zakkar (Damascus, 2008).

Frenkel, Y. Awqaf in Mamluk Bilad al-Sham. Mamliik Studies Review 13 (2009), 149—155; Marom, R. and Taxel I. Hamama:
The Historical Geography of Settlement Continuity and Change in Majdal ‘Asqalan’s Hinterland, 1270-1750 CE. Journal of
Historical Geography 82 (2023), 60.

Marom, R. Mamluk and Ottoman Endowment Deeds as a Source for Geographical-Historical Research: The Waqfiyya of
Haseki Sultan (1552 CE). Horizons in Geography (in press).

Mardom Bek, Waqf al-Wazir Lala Mustafd Basha wa-Yalthi Kitab Waqf Fatima Khatin b. Muhammad bek b. al-Sultan al-Mall
al-Ashraf Qansith al-Ghawrt (Damascus, 1925), 1-238; Khalaf, T. Watha’iq ‘Uthmanivah Haw! al-Jawlan: Awqaf, awamir,
salnamat (Damascus, 20006), 9-54.

Marom, R. and Zadok, R. Early-Ottoman Palestinian Toponymy: A Linguistic Analysis of the (Micro-) toponyms in Haseki
Sultan’s Endowment Deed (1552), Zeitschrift des Deutschen Palcistina-Vereins 139/2 (2024), 260.

The hamzah is the sign used in Arabic writing to represent the glottal stop, usually written above another letter and shown
in English transliterations as an apostrophe.

Hitteroth, W.D. and Abdulfattah, K. Historical Geography of Palestine, Transjordan, and Southern Syria in the Late 16th
Century (Erlangen, 1977), 29-32; Toledano, E. The Sanjaq of Jerusalem in the Sixteenth Century: Aspects of Topography
and Population. Archivum Ottomanicum 9 (1984), 281-285.
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Figure 4.1. Sultan Qaytbay’s endowment deed for Sukayk (Deed B).

significance for most of the Levant by the end of the Sultan Qaytbay’s official wagfiyah contains
19th century. However, it remained in use in Syria  Sukayk’s and al-Summaqah’s endowment among
and the Golan well into the 20th century." hundreds of listings of properties, from the subdis-

trict to the house level, throughout Egypt and Syria."

14 Administratively, as well colloquially (in daily life), the term ‘mazra‘ah’ represented a hamlet, or satellite or temporary
dwellings, or dependency, for residents of the pre—1967 Golan (Palestinian Rural History Project, [hereafter PRHP] inter-
views, 2022-2023). See Talas, M. (ed.) al-Mu'jam al-Jughraft lil-Qutr al-Arabt al-Siri (Damascus, 1990—1993); al-Sallim,
‘A.H.M. Durar al-Bayyan ft Ta'rikh al-Jawlan (no place of publication, 2022), 21; al-Sallim, M.Z. Mu‘jam al-Jawlan al-Jughraft
al-Mukhtasar (no place of publication, 2023).

15 Copy in Bibliotheque nationale de France [BnF]. Département des Manuscrits. Arabe 1118. For a list of urban properties see: Mayer,
L.A. (ed.) The Buildings of Qaytbay as Described in His Endowment Deed: I: text and index (London, 1938). For a spatial analysis
see: Petry, C. Fractionalized Estates in a Centralized Regime: The Holdings of al-Ashraf Qaytbay and Qansuh al-GhawrT Accord-
ing to Their Waqf Deeds. Journal of the Economic and Social History of the Orient 41/1 (1998), 96—117.
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CHAPTER 4

The ornate manuscript in which these wagqfiyah
endowments are documented reflects Qaytbay’s

grandious donations of private and public properties
for the benefit of the Haramayn (Fig. 4.1).!

THE TEXTS

Deed A

Marginal note: The whole portion of 5 qirats out
of 24 qirats,” and 21 portions (si#m) and a third
and a quarter of a qirat, out of 24 qirats [21 and
7/12 qirats = 89.93%] of the lands of the village of
Sukayk of [the region of] al-Shara of the settle-
ments of Protected Damascus
In red: disused (‘Atil), Damascus

The whole portion of 5 qirats out of 24 qirats,
and 21 portions (siam) and athird and a quar-
ter of a qirat, out of 24 qirats [21 and 7/12 qirats=
~89.93%], of the lands of the area (nawahi) of the
village of Sukayk of [the region of] al-Shara of
the ‘amal of the portion (al-hissah) [recte: gasbah,
‘the market town’] of Banyas of the settlements
(a'mal) of Protected Damascus. Including this
village, with its cultivable and non-cultivable lands

(aradi mu'tamal wa-mu attal), plain and rugged
terrain, the distant parts and the close parts (agasi
wa-adant), summer quarters and winter quarters
(masaif wa-mashati), threshing floors, pens/corrals
(siyar), and an inhabited settlement in the form of
the dwelling places of its fellahin and associated
orchards (dimna ‘amira bi-rasm sukna fallahiha
wa-kurum dhalika).

[Sukayk] is confined by four boundaries: the
southern boundary ends at the lands of the village
of al-Summagqa,”® and the eastern boundary ends
at the lands of the village of al-Thalhiyat [recte
al-Thaljiyat]” and it terminates at the land of the
village of Buq‘atha.”® And the northern boundary
ends at the lands of the village of al-Kufayr,?! and
it terminates at the land of the village of al-Jarash.?
And the western boundary ends at the lands of
Mazari‘ al-Barqiyat,” and it arrives at this village

16

17

18
19
20
21
22

23
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Petry, C.F. A Paradox of Patronage during the Later Mamluk Period. The Muslim World 73.3/4 (1983), 182—207; Behrens-
Abouseif, D. Qaytbay’s Foundation in Medina, the Madrasah, the Ribat and the Dashishah. Mamluk Studies Review 2 (1998),
61-71; Al-Mu‘ti, H.A. Piety and Profit: The Haramayn Endowments in Egypt (1517-1814). In Pascale, G. (ed.) Held in Trust:
Wagqfin the Islamic World (Oxtord, 2011), 41-72. For a contemporary account of Qaytbay’s renovation of the Haramayn and
Ummayad Mosque at Damascus see: BnF Arabe 1615, 38—44.

In Arabic legal and fiscal terminology, girar functions as a quantifier of portion. Like its English language cognate, carat,
when used to indicate the purity of precious alloys, girat does not represent a given amount but a ratio, or fraction, equal to
1/24 of the whole. The area of land thus granted to each village is left unspecified and cannot be calculated today.
Schumacher, G. The Jauldn (London, 1888), 242-243; Vilnay, Z. Golan ve-Hermon (Jerusalem, 1970), 194; al-Sallom, Durar
al-Bayyan, 67; al-Sallam, Mu‘jam, #120.

Mardom Bek, Waqf, 26, 142; Al-Sallim, Durar al-Bayyan, 34; al-Sallum, Mu'jam, #37.

Schumacher, The Jauldn, 242-243; Vilnay, Golan ve-Hermon, 71; al-Sallim, Durar al-Bayyan, 32; al-Sallam, Mu'jam, #32.
Coordinates 2174.2918 on the 1923 Palestine Grid. It does not appear in Mardom Bek, Waqf: Schumacher, the Jauldn; Vilnay,
Golan ve-Hermon; al-Sallim, Durar al-Bayyan; al-Sallim, Mu'jam.

Unidentified. It does not appear in Mardom Bek, Wagqf; Schumacher, the Jauldn; Vilnay, Golan ve-Hermon; al-Sallim, Durar
al-Bayyan; al-Sallim, Mu'jam.

To be identified with the Barjiyat or Bargiyat (colloquial Bedouin pronunciation, as recorded in PRHP interview, 25 Septem-
ber 2023) at the western slopes of the Golan Heights, just on the Syrian-Israeli international border (e.g., ‘Tahtnat al-Barji-
yat’ on Palestine Grid 2132/2844). The transition from /q/ to /j/ or /g/ probably took place through the mediation of Bedouin
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[Mazari al-Barqiyat] from the eastern direction, and
other [directions].

[This portion]| is encompassed in whole, with
its entitlements, roads, and any associated entitle-
ment within its bounds or outside of them, and what-
ever is acknowledged as such, or is associated with
it. [All that] is present in the ownership of our lord,
of noble stature, the endower referred to above in his
noble name (may God glorify and make him glori-
ous) in accordance with the legal deed of sale dated
the 28th of Honored Sha’aban 886 AH [= 31 Octo-
ber 1481], which is ruled in accordance with its
fixed content, after meeting the legal requirements.
[It was confirmed] by our lord, the poor servant unto
God, the Chief Judge (gadr al-Qudah) Nijm al-Din,
the gadr of the Muslims, and the pillar of Amir
al-Mu’minin, Abt Hafs, ‘Umar b. Muflih, of Jerusa-
lem, the Hanbali supervisor of the legal rulings in the
Mamlaka (province) of al-Sham, may God glorify his
judgments and bestow blessings upon him, in accor-
dance with a generous record written on its back
side, dated the 6th of most appreciated and inviolable
Ramadan 886 AH as accounted for by the shari‘ah
after a[thorough] legal inspection and consider-
ation of this deed in the question of this endowment
according to its date and witnesses.

Deed B (Figure 4.1)

Marginal note: 5 qirats, and a half and a quarter and
an eight of a qirat, and a half qirat, and a quarter of
a qirat [=6 and 37/96 qirat] out of 24 qirats of the
lands of the village of Sukayk

In red: disused [‘Atil)

The whole of the portion amounting to 5 qirats,
and a half and a quarter and an eight of a qirat, and
a half qirat, and a quarter of a qirat [=6 and 37/96
qirat] out of 24 qirats of the lands of the village of
Sukayk [the region of] al-Sha’ara [of the sub-district]
of Banyas of the settlements of Protected Damascus.

And a portion amounting to 1.5 qirats in the
portion of the Diwan in the aforementioned village
of Sukayk.

The entirety of this is bounded on its four sides:
the southern boundary ends at the village of al-Sum-
magqah, the eastern boundary ends at ‘Ayn al-Jamal
[recte ‘Ayn al-Hajal]** and the land of Buq'atha, and
the northern boundary ends at the village of al-Kafr
[recte al-Kufayr],”> and the western boundary ends
at al-Barqiyat®® up to that, and its rights and what
is accordingly acknowledged and ascribed to it.
And this portion is in addition [literally: removed
from] the portion already endowed before its date in
accordance with the deed of endowment registered
above [in the manuscript compilation] in the owner-
ship of endower, may God support him according to
a legal deed dated the 20th of Jumada al-‘Ula 882
AH. This ruling [e.g, the validity of endowment] has
been confirmed and has been executed in accor-
dance with the shari‘ah after a [thorough] legal
inspection and consideration according to its date
and witnesses.

Deed C

Marginal note: village of al-Summagqah adjoining
the lands of the aforementioned village of Sukayk

dialects with the shift from fusha /q/ to /g/, with secondary pronunciation as /j/. Cf. Bedouin pronunciation of classical /Qtrah/
(modern Yogne‘am) as /Jira/. See Conder, C.R. and Kitchener, H.H. The Survey of Western Palestine: Memoirs of the Topogra-
phy, Geography, Hydrography, and Archaeology, Vol. 1I: Samaria (London, 1882), 60. The use of the plural form -at suggests

a multiple of lands and is common in Levantine toponymy.

24 Schumacher, the Jauldn, 77, Vilnay, Golan ve-Hermon, 204; al-Sallam, Durar al-Bayyan, 91-92; al-Sallim, Mu‘jam, #196.

25 See Footnote 24.
26 See ‘al-Barjiyat’ Footnote 24.
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of [the region of] al-Sha’ra [of the sub-district] of
Banyas of the settlements of Damascus.
In red: disused [‘Atil)

The whole of the lands of the village of al-Sum-
maqah adjoining the lands of the aforementioned
village of Sukayk of [the region of]| al-Sha’ara
[of the sub-district] of Banyas of the settlements of
Protected Damascus. The whole of is lands has four
boundaries: the southern boundary ends at the lands
of Wasit,”” and the eastern boundary ends at the
Turba/graveyard,” and the northern boundary ends
at the lands of the village of Sukayk, and the west-
ern boundary ends to the lands of Ras al-Jibal.?

Out of this [area] a portion of 21 and 7/8 qirats
out of 24 qirats [® 91.145%] of the lands of the
aforementioned village of al-Summagah is the
private property of the endower, may God support

him according to alegal deed presented with its
witnesses, dated with various dates, the latest
of which is the 27th of Jumada al-Akhira 887
AH. This ruling [e.g, the validity of endowment]
has been confirmed by our master, the Shaykh
Shihab al-Din, Mufti of the Muslims, Abu al-‘Abbas
al-Muhst [recte: al-Humsi], the Shafi’1, substituting
for the precious legal authority in Protected al-Sham
[FDamascus] (may God make his judgments glori-
ous, and show his beneficence towards him) accord-
ing to a noble record written on the back side [of the
deed] dated 26th of Safar 888 AH. The remainder
[of the endowment] is among the properties of the
public treasury (Bayt al-Mal al-Mahmiud), accord-
ing to the testaments of those who so reckoned in
writing down their testimony at the end of the chap-
ter yet to be written.

DiscussioN

The documents presented above are the only fully
extant wagqfiyvahs from the Mamluk period Golan.*
Therefore, these records deserve greater attention
for decoding the spatial, demographic, administra-
tive, economic, social, toponymic and environmen-
tal information encoded therein. Taken together,
these documents provide an important source for
reconstructing the rural pattern of settlement in the
northern Golan before the 16th century, for which

extensive systematic Ottoman documentation did
survive.!

For overlapping endowment deeds to be
understood properly, the various deeds should be
compared and contrasted in a synchronous fasion.
Synchronous analysis allows us to distinguish
repeated formulas from ideosyncratic information
patricular to each endowed property. A synchro-
nous analysis also facilitates the reconstruction

27 Schumacher, the Jauldn, 268; Vilnay, Golan ve-Hermon, 121; al-Sallim, Durar al-Bayyan, 132—133; al-Sallim, Mu'jam, #294.

28 Unidentified.

29 Literally, the Heads of the Mountains (= peaks). While the name might remind one of Jabal Ros/Har Dov, at the western slopes
of Mt. Hermon, see Vilnay, Golan ve-Hermon, 106—107, that mountain range is north beyond al-Kufayr.

30 For a seventh century AH/13th century CE endowment deed of Na‘aran and Hadr villages see Khalaf, Watha’ig, 9.

31 For a synchronous publication of the inhabited places and tribal groups in the 1590s registers see: Hiitteroth and Abdulfat-
tah, Historical Geography, 112-220; For areas adjacent to the Golan, see Rhode. H. The Administration and Population
of the Sancak of Safad in the Sixteenth Century. PhD diss. Columbia University. (New York, 1979); Al-Bakhit, M.’A. and
Hmoud [al-Sawariyyah], N.R. The Detailed Defter of Al-Lajjun: Tapu Defteri No. 181 1005 A.H./1596 AD: A study edition
and translation of the text (Amman, 1989); Al-Bakhit, M*A. and N.R. al-Sawariyyah, Defrer-i Mufassal of Marj Bani Amir,
its Dependencies and Appendices Entrusted to Amir Tarabay 945 A.H./1538, 2nd ed. (Amman, 2010); Al-Bakhit, M.‘A. and
al-Sawariyyah, N.R. Daftar Mufassal Liwa’ Ajlin ragm 185 (Amman, 2011).
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of the settlement system, while a diachronic anal-
ysis permits researchers to recover changes in the
cultural landscape and legal geography over time.
For example, identifying the boundary elements
and georeferencing them allows us to track changes
in the territory of the fiscal units (in this case, two
villages) through time.*? This analysis of endow-
ment records can then be synthesized with other
written and archaeological evidence into a fuller
historical picture.

Chronology

On 20 Jumada al-"Ul4a 882 AH/7 September 1477,
Qaytbay endowed 6 and 37/96 qirats of his previ-
ously owned possession in Sukayk, in addition to
another 1.5 qirats of imperial domain (Diwan). Deed
B’s text mentions Deed A, which precedes it in the
defter. However, Deed B chronologically predates
Deed A by four years, thus creating a textual
discrepancy in the referencing of Deed B to Deed A.

On 28 Sha’aban 886 AH/31 October 1481 CE
Qaytbay purchased the remaining 21 and 7/12 qirats
(= 89.93%) of the lands of Sukayk (Deed A). The
purchase was authorized by the chief judge Nijm
al-Din of al-Sham (=Damascus). The purchase
was quickly followed, on 6 Ramadan/7 November
of the same year, by a judicial review undertaken
by ‘Umar b. Muflih, the hanbali mufii appointed
as ‘supervisor of the legal rulings in the Province
of al-Sham.** The properties were endowed at an
unspecified time during the same month. While
the name of the original owner of the purchased
portions is not named, the involvement of these high
functionaries, and especially of the mufti, suggests

32 Petry, Fractionalized Estates.

: MAMLUK RURAL GEOGRAPHY

that Qaytbay purchased the property from the state
treasury.

Qaytbay, probably through agents (wukala’) in
Damascus, accrued 21 and 7/8 qirats of “the lands
of the village of al-Summagqah, adjoining the lands
of the aforementioned village of Sukayk™ (Deed C).
The land purchases were completed on 27 Jumada
al-Akhira 887/21 August 1482. On 26 Safar 888/13
April 1483, Qaytbay endowed the whole of al-Sum-
magqah, including the remaining portions owned by
the public treasury (Bayt al-Mal). The endowment
was authorized by the mufti Shaykh Shihab al-Din,
and the Shafi’7 jurist Abu al-‘Abbas of Hums, in lieu
of the judicial authorities in Damascus.

The comments in the margins declaring Sukayk
and al-Summagqiyah to be disused [e.g., uninhabited]
(‘atil) are not contemporaneous with the endow-
ment itself; external, independent sources attest to
Sukayk’s inhabited status at the time of endowment
and for centuries thereafter. These comments may
reflect a much later Ottoman examination of the
status the Haramayn’s properties endowed by Qayt-
bay throughout the Levant and Egypt, and provides
one undated, though apparently synchronous testa-
ment to the abandonment of Sukayk and al-Sum-
magqah, as part of the wider process of regression in
settled life in the Golan during the 17th—18th centu-

ries.

Administration

The deeds shed important light on the adminis-
trative structure of the northern Golan during the
1470s—1480s. Sukayk and al-Summagiyah belonged
to an administrative unit called al-Sha‘ara of the

33 Starting in the 12th century, hanbalT jurisprudents from the environs of Nablus migrated to Damascus, establishing the suburb
of al-Salihiyah as the nexus of hanbalT jurisprudence in Bilad al-Sham for centuries to come. ‘Umar b. Muflih, termed a Jeru-
salemite (maqdist), might have been associated with this center. See: al-Saliht, Muhammad b. Ttlan, a/-Qala’id al-Jawhari-

yah f1 Ta'rikh al-Salihiyah (Damascus, 1980).
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subdistrict of Banyas of the Province (Mamlaka) of
Damascus.

In the first half of the 14th century, al-Sha‘ara
was an independent district (wilayah), located
northwest of the District of Nawa and southeast
of the District of Banyas. During this time its
administrative seat was at a village called Han or
at al-Qunaitira.>* According to al-Qalgashandi (d.
1418), al-‘Sha‘ara “was attached to Banyas during
the time of the Nasrids” (wa-kanat fi al-ayyam
al-Nasiriyah mudafah ila Banyas wa-hiya al-'an
wilayah munfarida). While it is unclear which of
the many Nasirs al-Qalqashandi refers to, it is clear
that by his time it had again become a separate
district (wilayah).*® Al-Qalqashand1 indicates that
al-Sha‘ara’s administrative seat was sometimes at
al-Qunaytirah, indicating that al-Sha‘ara reached as
far southeast as that village.*

Banyas was an important fortress town during
Mamluk times, with its military command located
in Qal‘at al-Subayba overlooking the town, on the
border between the Provinces of Safad and Damas-
cus.”” Thus, Sukayk and al-Summagqiyah formed
part of the Banyas hinterland, the extent of which is
otherwise unrecorded.

Geography

The name “al-‘Sha‘ara” derives from the Arabic
word for forest, or thicket, and refers to the wooded
nature of the land north and east of Sukayk (Fig.
4.2). Writing about events in 551 AH/1156/7 CE,
historian-scholar Shams al-Din al-Dhahabi (d.

1347/8 CE) described Banyas’ al-Sha‘ara as “mead-
ows for the horses” (jisharat al-khuyil) of the
Crusaders.®® Writing half acentury later, al-Qa-
lgashandt described the subdistrict (‘amal) of
al-Sha‘ara as located southeast of Banyas’ ‘amal,
and its longer axis (tizluha) between Banyas and Mt.
Hermon (Jabal al-Thalj).”*

Deed A provides a stylistically compelling
description of Sukayk’s varied geography, which
included “cultivable and non-cultivable lands
(aradi mu'tamal wa-mu'attal), plains and rugged
terrain, the upper parts and the lower parts (agast
wa-adani),” along with several man-made installa-
tions listed under “economy.” Deed C informs us
that the lands of al-Summagqgah were territorially

contiguous (mulasagah) to the lands of Sukayk.

Settlement

Describing Banyas’ al-Sha‘ara during the mid—13th
century CE, Abu al-Mahasin Yiusuf ibn Taghri-
birdt (d. 1470) painted a picture of “much land
disused/uninhabited because of Crusader control
of [the District] of Safad” (ard kathirah ‘atilah
bi-hukm istila’ al-Faranj ‘ald Safad). With the
threat of Crusader raids removed after the conquest
of Safad (1266 CE), al-Zahir Baybars sought out
ways to repopulate al-Sha‘ara. “Some scholars gave
Jfatwds to appropriate al-Sha‘ara as state/eminent
domain,” explained Ibn Taghribirdi, but Baybars
“did not heed their fatwds, and ordered the resto-
ration of private properties to their former owners”
(fa-lamma fataha Safad aftahu bad al-‘ulama’

34 Ibn Fadl Allah al-‘Umarf, Kitab al-1arif bil-Mustalah al-Sharif (Beirut, 1988), 228.

35 Al-Qalqashandi, Kitab Subh al-A'sha, vol. 4, 207.
36 Al-Qalqashandt, Kitab Subh al-A'sha, vol .4, 108.

37 Amir, D. Banias: Minei Kedem veAd Yamaynu (From Ancient till Modern Times, Dan, 1968 [Hebrew]), 104—-110. Al-Qalqa-
shandi lists al-Subayba as an indepandant wilayah later attached to Banyas. See Al-Qalqashandi, Kitab Subh al-A sha, vol. 4,

207.

38 Shams al-Din al-Dhahabi, Ta'rikh al-Islam wa-Wafiyat al-Mashahir wal-A‘lam (Beirut, 1993), vol. 38, 7.

39 Al-Qalqashandi, Kitab Subh al-A'sha 4, 108.
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2014).

bi-stihgag al-Sha‘ara, fa-lam yarja‘ ild al-fataya,
wa-taqaddama amruhu annd man kana lahu fiha
mulk [sic] gadim [sic] fal-yatassalamuhu).*°

While the results of this decree are unspecified,
we can presume that some of the northern Golan’s
original inhabitants did return, thus providing some
continuity with pre-Crusader populations and settle-
ment. Presumably, this included heterodox Muslim
sects, like the Shi‘ites who had inhabited Sukayk
by the 14th century, and the Druze, whose presence
around Mt. Hermon is documented since the times

Figure 4.2. Al-Sha‘ara, typical woodlands (adapted from Wikipedia, photo by Ronen Rothfarb, March

of the da‘wah (call to embrace their religion) in the
early 11th century CE.*

A spatial analysis of the endowment deeds
shows that in the last quarter of the 15th century,
settlement in the northern Golan was thin and
dispersed (see Fig. 4.3). The deeds list eleven
toponyms which presumably represent independent
fiscal units. Some are most likely inhabited villages
(Sukayk, al-Summaqah, Buq‘atha, al-Kufayr, al-Ja-
rash, al-Thaljiyat, ‘Ayn al-Hajal, Wasit), or possibly
mazari‘ (al-Barjiyat/Barqiyat). Some designations,

40 Abu al-Mahasin Yusuf ibn Taghribirdi, Kitab al-Nujiim al-Zahirah ft Muliik Misr wal-Qahirah (Egypt, u.d.), vol. 7, 180.
41 Hitti, PK. The Origins of the Druze People and Religion, with extracts from their sacred writings (New York, 1928), 5; Marshall,
S., Das, R., Pirooznia, M. and Elhaik, E. Reconstructing Druze Population History. Scientific Reports, 6/1 (2016), 1.
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Figure 4.3. Identified locations mentioned in the endowment deeds, with al-Qunaytira for reference.

like Ris al-Jibal (colloquially, “heads of the moun-
tains” = peaks), are geographic in nature. Others,
like “al-turbah”, lit. the cemetery/shrine, can signify
either a prominent burial ground or anamesake
village.*?

In comparison to its pre—1967 boundar-
ies, Sukayk’s territory in the 15th century was
much more extensive, and included many places
later designated as separate settlements. The large
distance between the identified sites and Sukayk
indicates that no settlements existed in this area; thus
testifying to sparse habitation (inthe 1960s there
were nine village territories, including Sukayk and
al-Summagqah, within the same region, as shown in
Fig. 4.4).8

Mamluk sources make a clear socio-economic
and cultural distinction between settled popula-
tions (fellahin) and nomads (‘arab, ‘urban). Deed
A describes Sukayk as an “inhabited settlement”
populated by sedentary fellahin residing in houses
(dimna ‘amira bi-rasm sukna fallahiha).** Nonethe-
less, the document also mentions Sukayk’s “summer
quarters and winter quarters” (masaif wa-mashati),
indicating that Sukayk’s inhabitants engaged in
transhumance — seasonal migration together with
their livestock. Similar transhumance movements
in the Golan are already referred to in ‘Uthman
b. As‘ad al-Munjr’s Na'aran and Hadr endowment
deed dated 634 AH/1237 CE.* Summer quarters

and winter quarters are repeatedly mentioned for

42 No site with this name can be identified in available maps or publications. See for example: Schumacher, The Jauldn; Vilnay,

Golan ve-Hermon.

43 Al-Jumhiriyah al-Striyah, Qada’ay al-Qunaytirah wal-Zawiyah, kharTtat tagaddum a‘mal al-masahah wal-tahsin al-"iqarT,

1:000,000, c. 1965 (Tel Hai Academy’s map archive).

44 Compare to similar phrasing in other Ayyubid/Mamluk waqfiyahs, like Na‘aran’s, in Khalaf, Watha’iq, 9.

45 Khalaf, Watha’iq, 9, note 1.
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Figure 4.4. A Syrian cadestral map showing modern village territories around Sukayk, 1965.

some villages in Mustaf Lala’s extensive waqfiyah.*®
This wagifyah lists over 90 villages and mazari‘ in
the 1550s Golan, reflecting decades of dramatic

demographic growth and settlement expansion in

the Southern Levant under Ottoman rule.”” Trans-
humance remained a lasting phenomenon due to the
Golan’s harsh winter weather, which forced tribes-
people until the 19th century to live in hundreds of

46 Mardom Bek, Waqf al-Wazir, al-Qunaytirah (included, 38), but omitted for other villages, like Rawiyah (p. 40).

47 For Palestine’s southern coastal plain, see: Marom and Taxel, Hamama, 57 and Etkes, H. Legalizing Extortion: Protection
Payments, Property Rights, Taxation, and Economic Growth in Ottoman Gaza, Working Paper (Stanford, 2008), 1-54. Stan-
ford, 2008; for Lydda’s hinterland, see: Marom, R. Lydda Sub-District: Lydda and its Countryside During the Ottoman Period.
In Shavit, A. (ed.) Lod- Diospolis — City of God. Journal of the History, Archaeology and Heritage of Lod 8 (Lod, 2022),
109—116; for Marj ibn ‘Amir, see: Marom, R., Tepper, Y. and Adams, M.J. Lajjun: Forgotten Provincial Capital in Ottoman
Palestine, Levant 55/2 (2023), 225; Bilad Safad [the Galilee], see: Rhode, Safad, 160—191; for the District of Jerusalem, see:

Toledano, The Sanjaq of Jerusalem, 309.
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Figure 4.5. Settlement around Sukayk in the 1880s (excerpt from Schumacher’s map, al-Jaulan).

rudimentary “winter villages” in their tribal terri- of them, wretched low stone huts with wooden
tory (Fig. 4.5).*® These winter villages later came to roofs. Here they store the in-gathered pastur-
be fixed and formed the nucleus of fully sedentary age and barley, as well as the straw during the
life in the 20th century Golan: rainy season, and take refuge therein during
“4s, however, the tent is not able to withstand the fierce winter weather. These winter villages
the effect of the weather, especially the snow consist of from 6 to 30 huts, which in summer
and cold, the inhabitants of these tent villages are completely deserted; they are closed up
have erected out of the ruined old places which by awooden door made out of a strong oak
cover north and west Jaulan, and upon the sites and serve only as haunts for the wild cats and
foxes.”™”

48 In contrast to proper “villages® west of the Jordan, villages in the territories of the Nu’aym and Fadl tribal confederacies in
the northern Golan were only inhabited seasonally during winter.
49 Schumacher, The Jaulan, 55. Compare to Vilnay, Golan ve-Hermon.
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Economy

Sukayk and al-Summagah were agricultural villages
whose residents utilized their varied terrains for
various agricultural actitivies. Sukayk’s proper-
ties included “cultivable [...] lands (ardadi mu'tamal
wa-muattal), plain and rugged terrain [...] summer
quarters and winter quarters, threshing floors, pens/
corrals, [...] and associated orchards (wa-kuriam
dhalika” (Deed A). The mention of threshing
floors — linked with grain production — implies
the growing of field crops in the cultivable lands,
while orchards suggest the planting of fruit trees for
domestic consumption (e.g., olives for olive oil, figs
and grapes for dried fruit).

Deed A’s mention of pens or corrals (siyar)
implies animal husbandry. In describing al-Sha‘ara
and other regions of the “stony Jaulan”, Schumacher
noted that “although of little use agriculturally, it is
all the more valuable as pasturage for the numer-
ous herds of the Bedawin, and serves as the ideal of
such a ‘land of spring pasturage’””® Sukayk’s resi-
dents probably used its rugged, uncultivable lands as

50 Schumacher, The Jaulan, 13.

pastures, and by analogy to more modern cases, also
grazed in the fields left fallow after harvest (shilif).
Herding in Sukayk’s extensive territory probably
required sheepfolds for protecting the herds.>!

The revenues collected (or expected to be
collected) from Sukayk and al-Summaqah are not
specified in the endowment deeds. However, the
endowment reflects both the financial interests of
distant actors in Sukayk and al-Summagqah, and the
way that the Muslim polity formed a common legal
and economic space with long-distance fiscal link-
ages. Thus, the two villages’ production and reve-
nues were encumbered to support religious estab-
lishments some 1,500 km away. Endowements to
the Two Noble Sanctuaries were widespread, and
by the 1600s they had become the major land-
holders in the Levant.”> Like in the later Ottoman
era, these substantial imperial endowments were
likely managed centrally by the state throughout
the Mamluk era. Revenues from the endowments
supported the purchace and transport of supplies for
the people living in Mecca and Medina.>

51 Cf. the southeastern Golan (al-Zawiyah al-Sharqiyah) in Schumacher, G. Across the Jordan — Being an Exploration and

Survey of Part of Hauran and Jaulan (London, 1889), 3, 21.

52 Cf. Ipshirlt and al-Tamim1 1982, Awgaf wa-'Amlak al-Muslimin.
53 Behrens-Abouseif, Qaytbay’s Foundation in Medina; Al-Mu’ti, Piety and Profit.
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